**RECEIVED**

**Sep 23 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

---

Consolidate Case Nos. 2023-CP-42-01221, 2023-CP-42-01226, 2023-CP-42-01367, 2023-CP-42-01545

Appellate Case No. 2024-001828

---

South Carolina Native Plant Society, Appellant,

vs.

Spartanburg County Planning Commission and Blue Sky Associates, LLC d/b/a T. Tree Farms  
RV Park, Respondents,

and

The Enclave at Fairview Farm Homeowners' Associations, Inc., Golden Hills of Fairview  
Homeowners' Association, Inc., Greenspace of Fairview, LLC, North Pacolet Association, Inc.,

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court err in concluding that the Spartanburg County Planning Commission (“Commission”) did not violate the Preamble and Section 3.13 (2) of the Unified Land Management Ordinance (“Ordinance”) when the Commission conditionally approved the T. Tree Farms RV Park (“RV Park”) without considering and obeying the mandatory provision of the Ordinance which requires that the RV Park “be developed in a manner that preserves natural features and landscape” of the site, specifically by not considering at all the impacts to rare native plants and important streams and forested habitats on and near the RV Park site?
2. Did the Circuit Court err in concluding that the Commission did not violate Section 3.13 (8) of the Ordinance which requires “sewer or other systems approved by DHEC” when it conditionally approved the RV Park with a septic system that was rejected as inadequate by the Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC”) Board?
3. Did the Circuit Court err in concluding that the Commission did not act unlawfully, arbitrarily, or capriciously or abuse its discretion when it failed to reconsider its conditional approval of the RV Park?
4. Did the Circuit Court err in concluding that the Commission did not act unlawfully, arbitrarily, or capriciously or abuse its discretion when it failed to offer any explanation for its conditional approval despite these provisions or decision not to reconsider?
5. Did the Circuit Court err in concluding that remand, rather than vacatur, was the appropriate remedy after finding that the Commission’s conditional approval violated the Ordinance?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Blue Sky Associates, LLC d/b/a T. Tree Farms RV Park (“Blue Sky”) proposes to construct an RV park in Campobello, South Carolina. On March 7, 2023, the Spartanburg County Planning Commission (the “Commission”) issued a conditional approval for the RV Park. The South Carolina Native Plant Society, as well as local homeowners’ associations and landowners (the “Homeowners”), requested that the Commission reconsider its conditional approval at its next meeting on April 4, 2023 and detailed the numerous Ordinance violations. The Commission declined to reconsider its approval. Subsequently, the Native Plant Society and the Homeowners filed four separate appeals of both the Commission’s conditional approval and the Commission’s decision not to reconsider its conditional approval. The appeals challenged the Commission’s decisions on various grounds, including failure to comply with requirements of the Ordinance related to natural resources, public health, and public safety. The appeals were consolidated on July 3, 2023.

The Circuit Court held a hearing on November 28, 2023. On April 22, 2024, Judge Hayes entered an order granting the appeal on certain grounds and reversing and vacating the Commission’s conditional approval. On May 1, 2024, the Respondents moved to alter or amend the Circuit Court’s order. On September 24, 2024, the Circuit Court held a hearing on the motion to alter or amend and, by order dated September 26, 2024, Judge Hayes granted in part the motion to alter or amend by “clarifying” that the term “vacate” meant “that the matter is remanded to the commission.” The Native Plant Society and the Homeowners timely filed Notices of Appeal on October 28, 2024. On November 20, 2024, Blue Sky moved to dismiss the appeal as premature. On January 13, 2025, this Court denied the motion “without prejudice to the parties addressing appealability in their briefs.”

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The proposed site for the RV Park is among properties in Campobello that are protected by their owners through conservation easements and covenants. The site itself and the surrounding land are home to a rare, native plant, and the site supports important, rare forested and stream habitat. Whitten Aff. ¶ 14–16 (R. pp. 01080-81); Newberry Aff. ¶¶ 13–14 (R. p. 01089); Gaddy Aff. ¶¶ 10–16 (R. pp. 01105–06); Huffman Aff. ¶ 11–12 (R. p. 01098). The RV Park will degrade these important natural features through construction and septic pollution, as well as increased human traffic. Whitten Aff. ¶ 14–16 (R. pp. 01080-81); Newberry Aff. ¶¶ 13–14 (R. p. 01089); Gaddy Aff. ¶¶ 10–16 (R. pp. 01105–06); Huffman Aff. ¶ 11–12 (R. p. 01098). Despite mandatory protections for natural features and septic standards detailed in the Spartanburg County Unified Land Management Ordinance, *see* Ordinance § 3.13 (R. p. 01047); Ordinance Preamble (R. p. 01022), the Commission disregarded, without explanation, these provisions and unlawfully issued a conditional approval for the RV Park and its associated harms. Then, after being notified of these numerous Ordinance violations, the Commission decided, again without explanation, not to reconsider its decision. *See* Southern Environmental Law Center, Reconsideration of Conditional Approval for the Site Plan of T. Tree Farm RV Park of Blue Sky LLC (Mar. 31, 2023) (alerting Commission to violations of ordinance) (R. pp. 01003–12); *see generally* Commission Meeting Minutes (Apr. 4, 2023) (no mention of issues during meeting) (R. pp. 00687–95). On appeal to the Circuit Court, the Circuit Court granted the Native Plant Society’s appeal in part, concluding that the Commission had violated other provisions of the Ordinance by approving a park without the required public water and public bathrooms, but also denied the appeal in part, concluding that the Commission had not violated the provisions requiring protection of natural features of the site and a septic system “approved by DHEC.” Opinion & Order, *S.C. Native Plant Society v. Spartanburg Cnty. Planning Comm’n*,

Case No. 2023-cp-42-01221 (S.C. Cir. Ct. Apr. 22, 2024) (hereinafter “April 2024 Opinion & Order”) (R. pp. 00001–14).

The Circuit Court erred (1) when it concluded that the Commission’s conditional approval did not violate the Ordinance’s requirements related to natural features and septic standards, (2) when it concluded that the Commission’s decision not to reconsider was not arbitrary and capricious and an abuse of discretion, (3) when it concluded that the Commission’s failure to offer an explanation for either of its decisions was not arbitrary and capricious and an abuse of discretion, and (4) when it concluded that remand, rather than vacatur, was the appropriate remedy.

**1. Spartanburg County Unified Land Management Ordinance**

The Spartanburg County Unified Land Management Ordinance governs land use and development in Spartanburg County, including development of RV parks. *See* Ordinance § 3.13 (R. p. 01047). The Ordinance begins by stating a fundamental purpose for the Commission’s work: protecting, among other things, “ecologically sensitive areas.” Ordinance Preamble (R. p. 01022). The Ordinance contains a section dedicated to “Camps and Recreational Vehicle Parks,” Ordinance § 3.13, which sets out requirements for Blue Sky’s application and the Commission’s consideration of RV park applications. Relevant to this appeal, the Ordinance sets forth RV park requirements related to natural features and landscapes, as well as septic systems serving RV parks. Specifically, Section 3.13 (2) requires that all RV parks preserve “natural features and landscape,” and Section 3.13 (8) requires that RV parks be serviced by “sewer or other systems approved by DHEC.” R. p. 01047. These provisions further the Ordinance’s purpose of protecting ecologically sensitive areas. Blue Sky’s application failed to comply with either requirement.

## 2. Blue Sky's Application

Blue Sky first applied for approval of its RV Park site plan with the Commission on January 29, 2021. Blue Sky, Major Land Development Application (Jan. 29, 2021) (R. 00701). The Commission conditionally approved Blue Sky's 2021 application; however, one of the conditions required that the RV Park be supplied by a public water system, Inman Campobello Water. Commission Conditional Approval (Mar. 3, 2021) (R. 01074). Because Blue Sky could not obtain water from Inman Campobello Water, it submitted a new application in February 2023. Blue Sky, Application at 2 (Feb. 2023) (R. 00707–08). Aside from changing the water supply from public water to well, the 2023 and 2021 applications were in substance the same. Although the Ordinance requires preservation of natural features, Blue Sky made no efforts to comply with that provision.

First, as noted above, the proposed RV Park site is in habitat for one of the nation's rarest plants, *Hexastylis naniflora* (Dwarf-flower Heartleaf). Newberry Aff. ¶ 14 (R. 01089); Gaddy Aff. ¶ 10 (R. 01105); Whitten Aff. ¶ 14 (R. 01080); Huffman Aff. ¶ 11 (R. 01098). This species has been designated a Highest Priority Species for South Carolina by the South Carolina Department of Natural Resources ("SC DNR") and is a "species of greatest conservation need." S.C. DNR, South Carolina's State Wildlife Action Plan (SWAP) at 2–9 (Oct. 14, 2014), <https://www.dnr.sc.gov/swap/index.html> (hereinafter "SC DNR Wildlife Action Plan"). In Spartanburg County, SC DNR has established the Peters Creek Heritage Preserve to protect one population of this plant. Mountains-to-Sea Ecological, Goldmine Creek Water Quality Assessment at 19, 22 (July 2021) (R. pp. 00934–67); terra incognita, Report on Proposed RV Park, *Hexastylis naniflora* (Dec. 17, 2021) (R. pp. 01119–21); Newberry Aff. ¶ 8 (R. p. 01087);

Gaddy Aff. ¶ 9 (R. p. 01105); Huffman Aff. ¶¶ 8–9 (R. p. 01097). This rare plant is thus an important feature of South Carolina’s natural history.

But the plant is at risk of disappearing. It is found in only limited areas within just three South Carolina counties—Greenville, Spartanburg, and Cherokee—and in nearby North Carolina Piedmont counties. Whitten Aff. ¶ 6 (R. pp. 01078–79); Newberry Aff. ¶ 10 (R. p. 01088). Within that restricted geography, the species is found only in areas with special soil types and moist, rich forests near streams, rivers, and lakes. Newberry Aff. ¶ 10 (R. p. 01088); Whitten Aff. ¶ 6 (R. pp. 01078–79). One such unique, rare area is on the proposed RV Park site. Newberry Aff. ¶ 14 (R. p. 01089); Whitten Aff. ¶ 14 (R. p. 01080). Because of its rarity nationwide, the species has for more than 35 years been designated a Threatened Species under the national Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531 *et seq.* Newberry Aff. ¶ 11 (R. p. 01088).

On at least two other occasions, agencies have required portions of residential developments in Greenville and Spartanburg Counties to be set aside to protect populations of the plant and its habitat; and on another occasion, the Greenville County Planning Commission denied the development plan for a subdivision because it did not take into account the presence of the species and its habitat on the site. *See* Greenville County Planning Comm’n, Meeting Minutes at 1–4 (July 22, 2020) (R. pp. 00972–75); Raintree Subdivision Conservation Easement (Aug. 14, 1992) (R. pp. 01110–18); Documents related to Boulder Creek Subdivision at 1–3 (R. pp. 00992–95) (requiring permittee to abide by measures to protect Dwarf-flower Heartleaf identified on site).

Despite the important rare natural features and landscapes on this site and the express requirement in Section 3.13 (2) to preserve them, nowhere in Blue Sky’s application or materials

did Blue Sky even mention the plant or its habitat. Despite being made aware of its presence as early as 2021, it did not provide a plant survey for the site, nor did it include any measures to preserve or protect these important natural features. *See, e.g.*, Blue Sky, Overall Site Plan (Mar. 1, 2023) (R. p. 01000–02); *see also* Southern Environmental Law Center, Letter in Support of Request for Final Review (Oct. 28, 2021) (letter submitted as part of administrative challenge to Blue Sky’s septic permit detailing presence of rare plant on RV Park site) (R. pp. 00704–06). Even worse, Blue Sky has done just the opposite of preserving these natural features. It has proposed to construct the RV Park *within the plant’s habitat*, including RV spaces, stormwater infrastructure with a detention pond, and a septic field. Blue Sky, Overall Site Plan (Mar. 1, 2023) (R. 01000–02); Newberry Aff. ¶¶ 15–16 (R. pp. 01089–90); Whitten Aff. ¶¶ 16–18 (R. p. 01081); Huffman Aff. ¶ 12 (R. p. 01098); Gaddy Aff. ¶ 13–16 (R. p. 01106). Not only is Blue Sky failing to preserve the natural features of the site, but it is proposing to destroy rare plants and their habitat.

Second, Blue Sky is proposing to serve the RV Park with a septic system that the Board of South Carolina’s Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC”)<sup>1</sup> concluded was inadequate to manage the Park’s septic treatment. As noted above, Section 3.13 (8) requires that RV parks be serviced by “sewer or other systems approved by DHEC.” R. p. 01047. This provision is intended to protect the environment and public health in Spartanburg County by ensuring that septic systems satisfy the quality and capacity standards put in place by the state. In 2021, Blue Sky applied to DHEC for a septic system permit to service the RV Park. Blue Sky, Major Land Development Application (Jan. 29, 2021) (R. p. 00701); *see also* DHEC Board,

---

<sup>1</sup> DHEC has since been split into two agencies and the environmental agency has been renamed the Department of Environmental Services. This brief will refer to the agency as DHEC throughout because that was the name in use during most of the events of this case.

Final Agency Decision on Docket No. 21-RFR-81 at 1–2 (Jan. 13, 2022) (“DHEC Board Decision”) (R. pp. 00697–98). The governing DHEC regulation requires Blue Sky to design a septic system for a peak sewage flow per unit per day of 120 gallons. *See* S.C. Code Reg. 61-56.501. Blue Sky sought a permit for a system that would treat half the regulatorily-required capacity, only 60 gallons per day, by arguing that a KOA campground in Travelers Rest with a 50 gallon capacity system was a “similar establishment” in a “similar location” to the RV Park and that the much smaller sewage volume of this campground should be used as a measure of what this approximately 50-unit RV Park would generate. DHEC Board Decision at 2; *see* S.C. Code Reg. 61-56.501.

Initially, DHEC staff issued a permit for the septic system based on the Travelers Rest campground’s flow. DHEC Board Decision at 2–3 (R. pp. 00698–99). Thereafter, local residents and homeowners’ associations (collectively, the “HOAs”) sought review of the permit by the DHEC Board. *Id.* at 1–2 (R. pp. 00697–98). The DHEC Board granted the HOA’s request. *Id.* at 2–3 (R. pp. 00698–99).

The DHEC Board held a hearing and reviewed the adequacy of the proposed septic system for this RV Park. *Id.* at 1 (R. p. 00697). The DHEC Board concluded that, although the regulation allowed for a reduced flow where data was provided from a “similar establishment in a similar location,” the KOA campground was not a “similar establishment” and thus could not justify a system based on a sewage flow of half the regulatory standard. DHEC Board Decision at 2–3 (R. pp. 00698–99). Accordingly, the Board ruled that the permit violated the regulatory requirement and that the system was inadequate to service the RV Park, and therefore the Board rejected Blue Sky’s septic permit. *Id.* (R. pp. 00698–99).

Upon review, the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) overturned the Board’s decision, but the ALC did not overturn the *substance* of the Board’s decision. The ALC did not address the Board’s determination that the septic system was inadequate to service the RV Park and that the much-reduced flow of a campground did not justify reducing the required sewage treatment capacity of this RV Park by half. Rather, the ALC overturned the decision on procedural grounds—finding that the groups who challenged the permit filed their request for DHEC Board review too late. *See* Order on Motions to Dismiss, *T. Tree Farms RV Park v. S.C. Dep’t of Health and Envtl. Ctrl.*, Dkt. No. 22-ALJ-07-0010-CC at 1, 10, 20–21 (S.C. ALC Nov. 29, 2022) (“SC ALC Decision”) (R. p. 00022).

Thus, the highest DHEC authority—its governing Board appointed by the Governor and approved by the Senate—ruled that the RV Park’s proposed septic system was inadequate to service the Park’s sewage flow, and that substantive determination has not been overturned. Yet, Blue Sky contended in its application to the Commission that its proposed septic system had been “approved by DHEC” despite the express disapproval of the system by DHEC’s governing Board because of the purely procedural timing ruling of the ALC. Blue Sky, Application (Feb. 2023) (R. pp. 00714); *see also* Commission Meeting Minutes at 20, 28–29 (Mar. 7, 2023) (R. pp. 00676, 00684–85).

### **3. The Commission’s Conditional Approval and Decision Not to Reconsider**

Numerous individuals and groups submitted materials to the Commission objecting to the proposed RV Park site plan, including, among other things, materials concerning rare plants, environmental impacts, and the inadequate septic system. *See, e.g.*, Concerned Citizens, Request for Public Hearing at 1–4 (Feb. 28, 2023) (R. pp. 00759–62). The Commission considered Blue Sky’s application at its March 7, 2023, meeting. Commission Agenda at 3 (Mar. 7, 2023) (R. p.

00639). The Commission refused to hold a public hearing on the proposal and at first denied anyone permission to speak concerning Blue Sky's application. *See* Commission Meeting Minutes at 20 (Mar. 7, 2023) (R. p. 00676). The Commission deferred action on Blue Sky's application until the end of its meeting and ultimately allowed a single representative of the Homeowners to speak five minutes only. *Id.* at 22, 28 (R. pp. 00678, 00684). The Commission refused his request to allow others to speak, and the Native Plant Society's representative was not given an opportunity to speak at the meeting. *Id.* (R. pp. 00678, 00684).

In a split vote, the Commission voted 6-2 to approve Blue Sky's site plan. *Id.* at 30. (R. p. 00686). The approval contained no conditions relating to the ecological features of the site or the site's natural features and landscape and contained no conditions to protect the rare Dwarf-flower Heartleaf or its habitat on the site. The approval also did not recognize the DHEC Board's disapproval of the proposed septic system and its reduced capacity. The Commission's conditional approval also did not include any explanation for the decision despite these provisions.

On March 31, 2023, the Native Plant Society asked the Commission to reconsider its decision and set out the violations of the Ordinance's provisions, including those related to "ecologically sensitive areas," "natural features and landscape," and "sewer or other systems approved by DHEC." Southern Environmental Law Center, Reconsideration of Conditional Approval for the Site Plan of T. Tree Farm RV Park of Blue Sky, LLC (Mar. 31, 2023) (R. pp. 01003-12). At its next meeting on April 4, 2023, the Commission decided not to reconsider its conditional approval of the RV Park site plan. *See* Commission Meeting Minutes (Apr. 4, 2023) (R. pp. 00687-95). As with its conditional approval, the Commission offered no explanation for its decision not to reconsider, despite these violations, nor did it mention anything about the

site's natural features, ecologically sensitive conditions, landscape, or lack of DHEC-approved septic system. *See generally id.* (R. pp. 00687–95).

In its decision to grant conditional approval and its decision not to reconsider, the Commission made no mention whatsoever of the provisions of Section 3.13 containing the mandate to preserve natural features and landscape or have a septic system approved by DHEC and made no effort to explain how its decisions complied with the Ordinance.

#### **4. The Circuit Court Proceedings and Opinions**

On April 4, 2023, the Native Plant Society filed its appeal of the Commission's March 7, 2023, decision conditionally approving the RV Park site plan. On April 17, 2023, the Society filed its appeal of the Commission's April 4, 2023, decision not to reconsider its March 7 decision. The Native Plant Society's two appeals were consolidated with two appeals filed by HOAs challenging the same Commission decisions.

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