RECEIVED

Sep 23 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Mark Hayes II, Circuit Court Judge

Consolidated Case Nos. 2023-CP-42-01221,
2023-CP-42-01226, 2023-CP-42-01367, 2023-
CP-42-01545

Appellate Case No. 2024-001828

South Carolina Native Plant Society, Appellant,

v.

The Spartanburg County Planning Commission and Blue Sky Associates, LLC, d/b/a T. Tree
Farms RV Park, Respondents,

and

The Enclave at Fairview Farm Homeowners' Association, Inc., Golden Hills of Fairview
Homeowners Association, Inc., Greenspace of Fairview, LLC, North Pacolet Association, Inc.,

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

have the right of review which they will undoubtedly exercise. In either case the outcome is the same. As Judge Hayes “...declined the invitation to give further direction to the commission,” (R. p. 15), the Commission is free to decide what issues can be re-raised on remand. (R. pp. 632-33). NPS states that “Respondents have not appealed the Circuit Court’s decisions that the Commission violated the Ordinance by approving a site plan for an RV Park that is not served by public water⁴ and that did not have public restrooms.” (*NPS Brief* at 11). Inaccuracies aside, Respondents were not required to appeal at the time. Under Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR, “[w]hen a form or other short order or judgment indicates that a more full and complete order or judgment is to follow, a party need not appeal until receipt of written notice of entry of the more complete order or judgment.” Respondents are entitled to rely on the Form 4 Order’s promise of a “formal order” and so Respondents need not notice an appeal 30 days after receiving the Form 4 Order. Regardless of the specific remedy sought, this case is not ripe for adjudication by this Court.

If the Court were to find that Judge Hayes’ Order was final, it would work a substantial injustice upon Respondents if they were not allowed the opportunity to file their own appeal if they wished to challenge any of the adverse findings of the Circuit Court. They were entitled to rely on the provisions of Rule 203(b)(1). If the Court determines this case is ripe at this time, it must afford Respondents the opportunity to serve and file their own appeals.

2. The Commission did not violate the Preamble, Sections 3.13 (2) (natural features) and 3.13 (8) (septic) of the ULMO.

⁴ This is not what Judge Hayes ruled in his April 22, 2024, Order; he held that the Commission erred in relying on the DES (then DHEC) definition of “Public Water System” found at S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-58(B)(150). (R. pp. 7-8) Furthermore, the order does not reach the other requirement for Commission approval, a system “approved by DHEC.” This was not an issue Respondents could have raised at the time as the drinking water permit had not yet been issued. Respondents raised this in their Rule 59(e) Motion, but the Court did not address it. (R. pp. 586-88).

The Preamble of the ULMO states that one of the purposes of the Ordinance is to protect “ecologically sensitive areas.” However, this does not rise to the level of any substantive requirement. Section 3.13(2) of the ULMO pertains to RV Parks and simply states: “[t]he site shall be developed in a manner that preserves natural features and landscape.” This vague qualitative requirement also cannot be elevated to impose specific requirements on a project. Disposition of this issue on appeal is a matter of showing the existence of evidence in the record supporting the Commission as this is a matter of fact. As argued to the Circuit Court, the Plan’s provisions for setbacks from the street and water bodies, as well as ULMO-mandated screening features, satisfies these requirements. (R. pp. 538-40, 703). Additionally, the project proposes to leave more than half of the parcel’s 38.68 acres undisturbed, preserving most of the site’s natural features and landscape. (R. pp. 539, 703, 732-33). This is unquestionably evidence supporting the findings of the Commission.

In its Brief, NPS devotes some four pages to the evidence Appellants put on the record supporting their proposition that the Plan did not comply with these provisions of the Ordinance. They include the actions of the Greenville County Planning Commission, which have nothing to do with Spartanburg County. Again, these are questions of fact, and the appellate court’s role is limited to determining the presence or absence of evidence. The Commission did not agree with the Appellants, and the Circuit Court rejected them as well. The Court may not stand in the shoes of the Commission. Appellants’ claims go to the sufficiency of the evidence and must fail.

Appellants next attack the DHEC-permitted septic system. As ULMO Section 3.13(8) states in pertinent part, RV parks “...shall be serviced by public water and sewer or **other systems approved by DHEC.**” (emphasis added). In late 2021, the four HOAs in the instant appeal filed an untimely request for administrative review of Blue Sky’s septic system permit after DHEC staff

issued its decision granting the permit. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60, failure to timely invoke the authority of the Board removes the Board’s jurisdiction and voids any action taken on the staff decision. *Knight Pub. Co. v. Univ. of S.C.*, 295 S.C. 31, 367 S.E.2d 20 (1988) (when a statute “affixes the time within which an action may be commenced...; commencement within the time affixed is then an indispensable condition of the action.”). See *Elam v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (S.C. 2004). Notwithstanding the untimeliness of the action, members of the DHEC Board improperly took up the matter and reversed the staff’s decision to grant the septic system permit. Blue Sky sought a contested case hearing at the Administrative Law Court to correct the Board’s error, and the ALC reversed the DHEC Board. (R. pp. 22-42); *T. Tree Farms RV Park v. S.C. Dep’t of Health and Env’tl. Ctrl.*, et al., No. 22-ALJ-07-0010-CC (S.C. ALC Nov. 29, 2022). In so doing the Court ruled, “...the Court hereby vacates the Board decision and reinstates the Department’s staff decision to grant the Blue Sky permit.” (R. p. 42). The ALC determined that the DHEC Board had no authority to review an untimely filed appeal. (R. pp.41-42). The HOA Appellants appealed their loss to this Court, and the Court upheld the decision of the ALC. *T. Tree Farms RV Park v. S.C. Dep’t of Health and Env’tl. Ctrl. et al.*, Opinion No. 2024-UP-241 (Ct. App. filed July 3, 2024). Subsequently, the General Assembly did away with the DHEC Board entirely.

Appellants maintain that because the ALC’s reversal was on procedural grounds (specifically, that the DHEC Board had no business taking up the matter in the first place), the system was not “approved by DHEC.” This argument is absurd on its face. DHEC staff approved the permit. The ALC conducted *de novo* review of the matter, vacated the decision of the DHEC Board, and reinstated the decision of DHEC staff. This Court upheld the decision of the ALC, and of DHEC staff. To argue otherwise would render the review process under the Administrative

Procedures Act a nullity. Indeed, Appellants are attempting to collaterally attack the HOA Appellants' defeat in this action, effectively arguing that unless they had a chance to litigate the septic system permit on the merits, the holdings of the ALC and of this Court are null and void.

The HOA Appellants echo the arguments of NPS, adding a long argument attempting to re-litigate their loss in that case and claiming that somehow the timeliness issue does not apply. They attempt to raise S.C. Code Ann. § 48-1-50(5). This provision of the Pollution Control Act gives the Department of Environmental Services (DES) authority to revoke permits, but the Board did not do that, as discussed by the Administrative Law Court in its Order. (R. pp. 29-30); *T. Tree Farms RV Park v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Envtl. Ctrl., et al.*, No. 22-ALJ-07-0010-CC, at 8-9 (S.C. ALC Nov. 29, 2022). HOA Appellants' citation to S.C. Code Ann. § 48-1-100(C) is likewise inappropriate; it is a general grant of agency authority over the field of septic system permitting, not a specific grant of jurisdiction to review a particular agency decision. In vain, HOA Appellants repeatedly attempt to revive their challenge to this permit.

The HOA Appellants also recite a parade of alleged horrors relating to the septic system, which is again, not at issue before this Court. DHEC's issuance of that permit is final and unappealable because the HOA Appellants failed to timely petition for rehearing following this Court's July 3, 2024, decision. *See* Order in *T. Tree Farms RV Park*, case 2022-001792, issued September 19, 2024, declining to consider an untimely petition for rehearing. They further claim that the change in the water source renders the septic permit void. But this would be a decision for DES to make, not the HOA Appellants. To allow a third party to arrogate to itself DES' permitting and enforcement authority creates a private right of action. The General Assembly emphatically stated that no such right existed when in 2012 it amended S.C. Code Ann. § 48-1-250 to read:

No private cause of action is created by or exists pursuant to this chapter. A determination by the department that pollution exists or a violation of a prohibition contained in this chapter has occurred, whether or not actionable by the State, creates no presumption of law or fact inuring to or for the benefit of a person other than the State.

If DES concludes that the septic system permit should be revoked, that is a decision for DES to make, not Appellants, and certainly not in an attack on a decision of a local Planning Commission.

3. The Circuit Court did not err in rejecting Appellants' arguments regarding the Commission's decision not to "reconsider" its decision.

NPS makes the following argument:

Respondents may contend that only a Commission member may move to reconsider and that only the Commission may reconsider its decision. To be sure, that is the procedure for reconsideration. The Native Plant Society does not contend that it had the ability to move for reconsideration. Instead, the Society points out that the Commission acted arbitrarily and capriciously and abused its discretion when it decided not to reconsider its illegal decision and its violations of the Ordinance after being informed of such violations. The Circuit Court erred in holding otherwise. (*NPS Brief* at 23-24).

Indeed, that is the crux of the argument. Spartanburg County Council Rules & Procedures, § 12-4 limits who may request reconsideration and when. It states that motions to reconsider:

...may be made only on the day such action was taken or at the next Regular Council meeting. Such motion must be made by a Council member voting on the prevailing side, but may be seconded by any other Council member, and may be made at any time.

NPS claims that by not acting on its request for reconsideration, this somehow constitutes an independent ground for reversal after the Commission "...decided not to reconsider its illegal decision..." (*NPS Brief* at 23-24). NPS was granted the opportunity to litigate the alleged delicts of the Commission at the Circuit Court, but the Commission's refusal to take up its complaints do not provide independent grounds for reversal. The appeal route Appellants have taken advantage of is the proper, and only, venue for adjudicating allegations that the Commission erred in

approving Blue Sky's Plan. The fact that the Commission did not agree with NPS's request for reconsideration does not constitute a ground for reversal.

4. The Circuit Court did not err in rejecting Appellants' arguments regarding S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150(B), and the "variance" issue.

S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1150(B) simply requires the Commission to maintain as a public record the reasons for its decisions with the grounds for approval or disapproval. Appellants attempt to elevate this to a substantive requirement, which is inappropriate. The statute does not require the Commission to make specific findings. By contrast, when a Board of Zoning Appeals issues a variance, S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-800(A)(2) requires "...the board makes and explains in writing" specific findings enumerated in the statute." § 6-29-800(A)(2)(a)-(d). If the General Assembly had meant to require Planning Commissions to attach an exhaustive list of findings that they had to make in approving each and every project, it would have included those requirements in the statute, and it did not. Furthermore, the Commission stated the conditions under which it would grant the approval in its decision. (R. p. 298). Appellants are challenging a number of those conditions here, while at the same time claiming that no conditions were stated. NPS then cites to *Citizens for Quality Rural Living, Inc. v. Greenville Cnty. Planning Comm'n*, 426 S.C. 97, 825 S.E.2d 721 (Ct. App. 2019) for the proposition that the Planning Commission failed to exercise discretion. In *Citizens for Quality Rural Living*, the trial court issued a Form 4 order dismissing the appeal citing based only on the appellant's lack of standing. 426 S.C. at 102, 825 S.E.2d at 723. The Court of Appeals reversed, finding that the trial court, not the commission, failed to exercise discretion as evidenced by its one-sentence, summary order. *Id.*, 426 S.C. at 114, 825 S.E.2d at 730. This case is simply inapplicable here.

HOA Appellants claim that the Commission “in effect” granted Blue Sky a variance, should have required Blue Sky to seek a variance, or that the Commission was required to make findings related to a variance. They analogize the Commission’s action to an inverse condemnation, which is a claim they did not raise below. “An issue must be raised to and ruled on by the trial court for an appellate court to review the issue.” *S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. S.E.C.U.R.E. Underwriters Risk Retention Grp.*, 347 S.C. 333, 343, 554 S.E.2d 870, 875 (Ct. App. 2001). The Commission determined that the Plan met the requirements of the County’s ULMO without necessitating a variance. While the Circuit Court found the Commission erred in two particulars, this is not tantamount to finding that a variance was implicitly granted. As noted in the Circuit Court’s Order, “all parties agree that the Commission did not issue a variance to excuse compliance with any of the Ordinance's provisions.” (R. p. 9). The HOA Appellants’ attempt to now argue otherwise must be rejected.

5. The Circuit Court did not err in Ordering a Remand.

NPS cites to *Hodge v. Pollock*, 223 S.C. 342, 75 S.E.2d 752 (1953) to argue that vacatur was the only proper remedy following the Circuit Court’s decision. *Hodge* involved an appeal of the grant of a variance filed by a neighboring landowner. The Board of Adjustment had granted the variance but did not make the required finding of unnecessary hardship as required by the 1952 Code. The decision of the Court was that “[t]he action of the Board of Adjustment is set aside and the order appealed from is reversed.” *Id.*, 223 S.C. at 350, 75 S.E.2d at 755. *Hodge* did not discuss the propriety of the remedy of remand versus vacatur at all. There is a reason there is very little South Carolina case law discussing the distinction between the remedy of remand versus vacatur, and that is because, as discussed *supra*, a decision to remand is not directly appealable. Review statutes such as the Administrative Procedures Act generally give trial or appellate courts the right

to remand. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 1-23-380(4)-(5) & 1-23-610(B). The South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act of 1994 discusses remand as well. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 6-29-840, 930. Finally, contrary to Appellants’ assertions, the provisions of the County Ordinance do not explicitly prohibit amendment of plans, and the Commission should be left to conduct its own affairs. Under the circumstances Judge Hayes’ decision to remand the matter was properly left to his discretion and should not be disturbed on appeal. The strongest indication that remand was the appropriate remedy is Judge Hayes’ clarification in his Form 4 Order that “vacate,” in fact, meant “remand.”

6. HOA Appellants’ Allegations of Fire Danger and Traffic Danger

HOA Appellants do not merely attack the actions of the Commission; they allege that the ULMO itself falls short of and violates the South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Act. Specifically, they claim that the ULMO falls short in that it contains no specific requirements in line with the preamble of the Act, fire protection, transportation, etc. From this they go on to raise the claims that the Plan causes “Fire Danger⁵” and “Traffic Danger.” These are not requirements found in Section 3.13.1-10 of the ULMO. HOA Appellants attempt to raise the issue of conflict preemption in their Brief (*HOA Appellants’ Brief*, at 15) but they did not raise this issue to the Circuit Court, and it is not properly before this Court. *S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 347 S.C. at 343, 554 S.E.2d at 875. The enactment of the ULMO is a legislative act by Spartanburg County, and it would be error for the Commission to impose requirements beyond what is in the

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